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JSC RG BRANDS AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE PREPARATION AND APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financlal statements that present fairly
the financial position of the Jolnt Stock Company RG Brands (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”) as at 31 December 2017, and the resuits of Its operations, cash flows and changes In equity for
the year then ended, in accordance with International Financlal Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

In preparing the consolldated financial statements, management is responsible for:

° Properly seiecting and applying accounting policles;
. Presenting infermation, Including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reilable,

comparable and understandable Information;

) Providing additional disclosures when compllance with the specific requirements In IFRSs are
insufficlent to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactlons, other events and
conditions on the Group’s consolidated financial position and financial performance; and

o Making an assessment of the Group's abllity to continue as a going concern.

Management Is also responsible for:

° Designing, implementing and maintaining an effective and scund system of Internal controis

throughout the Group; ,

) Maintaining adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explaln the Group's
transactions and disclose, with reasonable accuracy at any time, the consolidated financlal
position of the Group, and which enable them to ensure that the consolidated financlal statements

of the Group comply with IFRS;
° Maintaining statutory accounting records in compliance with legisiation of the Repubiic of

Kazakhstan and IFRS;
Taking such steps as are reasonably available to them to safeguard the assets of the Group; and

Preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities,

The consolidated financlal statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 were approved
by management on 13 March 2018.

On behalf of the Group’s managément:

A Tf}l l4
——— A Wi
Dewaele H. A. =5 1N Zhapaghevs 8. S.
Chief Executiva Officer Chlef Accountant

13 March 2018 . 13 March 2018



Deloitte.

36 Al Farabl Ave.,
Almaty, 050059,
Republic of Kazakhstan
Tel: +7 (727) 258 13 40
Fax: +7 (727) 256 13 41
deloitte.kz

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Joint Stock Company RG Brands:

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financlal statements of JSC RG Brands and Its
subsidiaries (“the Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or ioss and other
comprehensive income, consolldated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financlai
statements, Including a summary of significant accounting policles.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the consolidated financlal position of the Group as at

31 December 2017, and Its consolidated financlal perfermance and its consolidated cash
flows for the year then ended In accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs").

Baslis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Intematlonal Standards on Auditing (*ISAs"™).
Our responsibilitles under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolldated Financlal Statements section of our
report. We are Independent of the Group In accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “IESBA
Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
consolldated financial statements In the Republic of Kazakhstan, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities In accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We
belleve that the audit evidence we have obtalned Is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basls for our opinlon.

Key Audlt Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, In our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financlal statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed In the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and In forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinlon on these matters.

Daloltte rafars to ona or mere of Dalcitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited, & UK privata company [Imited by guarantes CDTTLY, I
network of member firms, and thair related antites. DTTL and each of Its member firms are legally separat= and independant
entities. DTTL (alse refermed to ax *Deicitta Global”™) doss not provide sarvices to ollents. Please see for
& more detalled description of DTTL and Ibs member firms.

© 2018 Dedoltte, LLP. All rights reservad,



Compliance with Ioa_n covenants

As discussed in Note 20 to the We obtained an understanding of the process of
consolldated financlal statements, monitoring of compllance with conditions Included
as at 31 December 2017, in the loan agreements.

outstanding borrowings amounted

to 17,556,543 thousand tenge. The We reviewed the cutstanding loan agreements as
Group entered into various loan at 31 December 2017 and obtained an
agreements, many of which contain understanding of the terms of the agreements,
different covenant clauses covering  including financial covenants that the Group must
performance Indicators of the comply with.

Group.
Further, we recalculated the financlal covenants

In case of breach of the covenants, and compared the results to those prepared by the
the leans shall be repaid Group,

immedlately upon request of the
lenders. As such, there Is a risk of We ensured that the classlficatlon of the ioans as at

incorrect classification of borrowings 31 December 2017 was correct.
as non-current liabilities rather than

current llabliitles If there Is a breach

of a loan agreement covenant.



Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
Information Included in the annual report, but does not Include the consolidated flnancial
statements and our audltor’s report thereon. The annual report Is expected to be made
available to us after the date of this auditor's report.

Our opinlon on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information
and we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financlal statements, our responsibility is
to read the other information Identified above when It becomes avallable and, in doing so,
conslder whether the other information Is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtalned in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there Is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibiiities of Management and Thosae Charged with Gevernance for the
Consolidated Financlal Statements

Management Is responsible for the preparation and falr presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“"IFRSs"), and for such internal control as management determines Is necessary to enable
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolldated financlal statements, management is responsible for
assessing the Group's abllity to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting uniess
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsibie for overseelng the Group’s finandial
reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financlal Statements

Our objectives are to obtaln reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financlal statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to Issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but Is not a guarantee that an audit conducted In accordance
with ISAs wlll always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individuaily or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to Influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basls of these consolidated financial statements.



As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated flnanclal
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtaln audit evidence that is sufficlent and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinlon. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud Is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
coiluslon, forgery, intentional omisslons, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internai control relevant to the audit in order to design
audlt procedures that are approprate In the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectlveness of the Group's internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting pollcles used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtalned, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ablllty to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the
related disclosures In the consolidated financlal statements or, If such disclosures are
inadequate, te modify our ¢pinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our audltor's report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financlal
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves falr presentation.

Obtaln sufficlent appropriate audit evidence regarding the financlal Information of the
entitles or business activities within the Group to express an oplnion on the
consolldated financial statements. We are responslble for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remaln solely responsible for our audit
opinfon.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, Including any
significant deflciencles in internal control that we Identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relatlonships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
Independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.



From the matters communlicated with these charged with governance, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the coensolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.

/
b4~ S

Olga Belonogova

Engagement Partner Ivan Mudrichenke
Certified Pubilc Accountant Auditor-performer
Oregon State, USA Qualification certificate
License No. 10687 No. MF-0000415
dated 2 December 2003 dated 13 January 2017
e o v i
Pelostte, LLp /7N
Deloitte, LLP [ \ -
State license for audit activities in the | - e —
Republic of Kazakhstan No.0000015, | =
type MFU-2, Issued by the \ 7
Ministry of Finance of the /Nurlan Bekenov
Republic of Kazakhstan T~ General Director
dated 13 September 2006 - Deloltte, LLP
13 March 2018

Almaty, Republic of Kazakhstan



JSC RG BRANDS AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
(in thousands of Tenve)

Note 2017 2016
Revenue 5 52,430,945 48,740,802
Cost of sales 6 (30,699,232) {30,330,090)
Gross profit 21,731,713 18,410,712
Selling expenses 7 (12,578,658) (10,716,416)
General and administrative expenses B 14,189,241} (3,909,278)
OPERATING PROFIT 4,963,814 3.785.018
Flnance costs g (1,651,110) (1,917,202)
Forelgn exchange loss (499,163) (70,795)
Investment Income/(loss), net 44,616 {157,621)
Cther (expenses)/income, net _(245,970) 158,935
Profit before tax 2,612,187 1,798,335
Income tax expense 10 (617,165) [773.675]
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 1,995,022 1,024,860
Othar compreheansive Income, net of Income tax
Items that will not be reclassified subsequentiy to profit or
lozs:
Gain on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 12 - 3,657,507
- 3,657,507
Items that may be reciassified subsaquentiy o profit or
loss:
Exchange differences on translating forelgn operations 14,003 (91,564)
14,003 (91,5641
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of Income tax 14,003 3,565,943
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 2!009!025 . 4, 590|603
Earnings per share
Baslc and diluted eamings per common share, in tenge 11 634 326
Slgned on behalf of Group’s managemant!
— 7 1)
= =i . \ L T e
Dewaeis H. A. [[c=(NG 12 £| Zhapashevy'S, S.
Chlef Executive Officefr - ' | Chlef Accountant
!
13 March 2018 \ / 13 March 2018

L oy

The notes on pages 12 to 51 firmian Jm_gggyﬁgn of these consolidated financlal statements.



JSC RG BRANDS AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017
(in thousands of Tenge)

31 December 31 December
Note 2017 2016
ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS:
Property, plant and equipment 12 21,356,758 21,525,727
Investment property 607,493 507,889
Advances paid 13 105,179 20,500
Goodwlll 68,026 68,026
Intangible assets 75,647 66,107
Total non-current assets 22,213,103 22,188,249
CURRENT ASSETS:
Inventories 14 7,296,966 7,115,482
Trade accounts recelvable 15 1,680,479 2,082,152
Advances paid 13 894,645 425,539
Other financlal assets 16 2,990,970 -
Other current assets 16 822,878 609,201
Bank deposits 513,652 99,077
Cash and cash equivalents 17 5,236.437 15,552.359
19,436,027 25,883,810
Assets classified as held for sale 1,929 1,929
Total current assets 19.437 958 25,885,739
TOTAL ASSETS 41,651,058 48,073,988
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY:
Issued capital i8 2,787,696 2,787,696
Treasury shares 18 (149,709) (149,709)
Preferred shares, held within the Group 18 (947,400) (947,400)
Reserves 19 2,956,227 3,628,260
Retained earnings 8,855,542 6.639.,484
Total aquity 13,502,356 11,958,331
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Borrowings 20 8,165,380 10,512,930
Notes payable 20 - 56,700
Deferred tax liabilitles 10 2,915,726 2,790,082
Total non-current llabliitles 11,081,106 13,366,712
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable 21 6,590,459 9,027,879
Borrowings 20 9,391,163 12,203,420
Notes payable - 2,126
Corporate incormne tax payable - 115,340
Taxes payable 22 650,624 1,003,411
Other accounts payable and accrued llabillies 435,351 396,769
Total current llabliities 17,067,597 22,748,945
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 31,651,059
Signed on behalf of Groun!_i:._.ﬂ}qng&nﬂmeht: N - '
- - - o ’I.J. ﬂ"

A
fi A=

- J Zhapasheva as.
Chlaf Executive Officer / Chlef Accountant

13 March 2018 N 74 13 March 2018

'._" ’,

The notes on pages 12 to 51 for];i\‘un.tnt:gmi"b'élt of these consolidated financial statements.



JSC RG BRANDS AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
(in thousands of Tenge)

Preferred Property, Plant Foreign
shares, held & Equipment currency
Issued Treasury within the revaluation transiation Retained
capital shares Group reserve reserve eamings Total equity

As at 1 January 2016 2,787,696 (152,436) {947.400) 1,205,907 (295,275} 5,979,437 8,577,929
Profit for the year - - - - 1,024,660 1,024,660
Other comprehensive income, net

of Income tax - - - 3,657,507 (91.,564) - 3,565,943
Total comprehensive income for

the year - - - 3.657,507 (91,564 1,024 660 4.590,603
Dividends declared (Note 18) - - - - - {1,199,999) (1,199,999)
Transfer to retalned earnings - - - (848,315) - 848,315 -
Sale of own shares - 3,702 - - - 3,698 7,400
Repurchase of own shares - (975} - - (16,627} (17,602}
As at 31 December 2016 2,787,696 {149,709) (947,400) 4,015,099 (386,839) 65,639,484 11,958,331
Profit for the year - - - - - 1,995,022 1,995,022
Other comprehensive income, net

of income tax - - - 14,003 - 14,003
Total comprehensive incorne for

the year - - - — 14,003 1,995,022 2.009.025
Dividends declared (Note 18) - - - - - (465,000) (465,000)
Transfer to retained eamings - - (686.036) - 686,036 =
As at 31 December 2017 “lzmgﬁ“ (149.709) {947,400) 3,329,063 (372,836) 8,855,542 13,502,356

e PO
(s g""\ . . ?’a’%\\ /
0o ! x
Signed on behalf of Group' man m ®3 f =
L) ..I. ; ? s 55 I} ..‘-') J _____,.-".-"
AN ﬁ*{: ' S
°4r et "/ Zhapasheva S. 5.
Chief Executive Officer Nty o ant Chlef Accountant
""-—____,.--

13 March 2018 13 March 2018

The notes on pages 12 to 51 form an Integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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JSC RG BRANDS AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
(In thousands of Tenge)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Profit before tax

Adjustments for;

Depreclation and amortization

Finance costs

Foreign exchange loss, net

Loss/(galn) from disposai of property, plant and equipment

Reimbursement of selling expenses incurred without
cash settlement

Investment (Income)/loss, net

Waste goods write-off and write-off of materials

Provision for slow-moving and obsolete inventory

Employee vacation and other accrued expenses

Provision for allowance of doubtful debts

Other galn

Operating cash flows before movements In working capital
Change in Inventories

Change In trade accounts receivable

Change In advances pald

Change In other current assets

Change In accounts payable

Change In taxes payable

Change In other accounts payable and accrued llabllities

Cash from operations
Interast paid
Income tax paid

Net cash generated by operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and Intangible assets

Loan settled by related party

Proceeds on sale of other flnancial assets

Purchase of other financlal assets

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment, Intangible
assets and assets, classifled as held for sale

Money placed to deposit
Net cash (used In) / generated by Investing activities

10

Note 2017 2016
2,612,187 1,798,335
6,7,8 2,127,523 2,147,204
9 1,651,110 1,917,202
499,163 70,795
27,577 (52,494)
7 (528,764) (913,229)
(44,616) 157,621
7,8 241,986 206,596
8 4,347 -
10,593 19,825
7,8 241,296 6,116
(89,495) 1294)
6,752,907 5,357,677
(427,816) (2,590,466)
224,362 (576,199)
(464,513) (22,360)
(190,972) (311,120)
(2,140,312) 3,518,895
(352,787) (51,664)
76,242) 1,622
3,324,627 5,326,385
(1,651,778); (1,714,482)
(606,851) 1358,090)
1,065,988 3,253,813
(2,094,208) (988,776)
- 45,200
13,319,788 21,228,754
(16,231,868) (18,708,796)
92,708 177,196
(420,743 (98.273)
(5,334,323} 1.655,305



JSC RG BRANDS AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED)

(in thousands of Tenge)
Note 2017 2016
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from borrowings 20 12,373,709 11,120,520
Repayment of borrowings ¢ {17,446,582) {9,588,766)
Proceeds from notes payable - 49,539
Dividends pald 18 (465,000} (1,199,999}
Sale of own shares - 7,400
Repurchase of own shares - {17.602)
Net cash (used In) / generated by flnancing actlvities {5,537,873) 371.092
NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (9,806,208) 5,280,210
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, at the beginning of the year 17 15,552,359 10,541,082
Effect of changes In forelgn exchange rates In relatlon to cash 1509.7141 (268,933)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, at the end of the year 17 5,236,437 15,552,359
- = "'“-\“‘ f.
Signead on behalf of Group’ nagement: '\H s
i} P i -
B A r 4] -
e | : --:f{.c‘;ﬁt:

Dewaele H'A. HLL® | Zhapashevas. S.
Chlef Executive Officer | | Chlef Accountant

13 March2018

13 March2018 \ /
The notes on pages 12 to 51 form an irtegral part of these consolldated financlal statements.
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JSC RG BRANDS AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

(In thousands of Tenge, unless otherwise stated)

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION
The princlpai activity of JSC RG Brands and Its subsidlarles (“the Group”) Is the production, sale
and distributlon of julces, carbonated soft drinks, milk, bottied drinking water, chips, as well as

the packing, sale and distribution of tea. The Group’s operations are primarily In the
Republic of Kazakhstan.

Ownership of the Company

The holding company, JSC RG Brands ("RG Brands” or “the Company”) was Inltially reglstered on
22 June 1998 as a limited llabllity partnership. The Company was re-registered as a joint stock
company on 27 March 2001.

Shareholders and ultimate owners of the Company as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 are
disclosed in Note 18.

Group structure and operations

The Group Includes the Company and the following subsidiaries:

Ownarship Interest Voting power
2017 2016 2017 2016
LLP RG Brands Kazakhstan 100% 100% 100% 100%
LLP Unl Commerce Ltd. 100% 100% 100% 100%
LLC RG Brands Kyrgyzstan 100% 100% 100% 100%
LLC RG Brands Tashkent 100% 100% 100% 100%
LLP PRG Bottlers Kazakhstan 100% 100% 100% 100%
LLC RG Brands Sever 100% 100% 100% 100%

RG Brands carries out the management functions in terms of organization of the activitles of its
subsidiaries.

LLP RG Brands Kazakhstan (*RG Brands Kazakhstan”) performs the following types of activity:

e preduction of juices under trademarks “Gracio”, "Da-Da”, "Da-Da Dacha” and “Nektar
Solnechnyl”;

. production of carbonated soft drinks under trademarks “Pepsi”, “Seven -Up*, *MIirinda” and
“Nektar Solnechnyi Gazirovannyi”;

° packing, distribution and sale of tea under brand “Plala” processed from Imported raw tea;
production of ultra-pasteurized milk under the *“Moye” trademark;

° processing of agricultural products, into, among others, potato chips under “Grizll”
trademark;

. production of bottled drinking water under trademark “A’SU”;

° production of drinks contained juice and cold tea under trademarks *Da-Da Day”, “Piala Ice
Tea” and “Llpton Ice Tea”;
production of energetic drink “Yetl”;
sale and distribution on the territory of the Republic of Kazakhstan and close-hordering
countries products of the Group.

The princlpal activity of LLP Uni Commerce Ltd. is the management of the Group’s Investment
portfolio,

LLC RG Brands Tashkent (*"RG Brands Tashkent”) and LLC RG Brands Kyrgyzstan
("RG Brands Kyrgyzstan”) perform sales and distribution roles In the Republic of Uzbekistan and
the Kyrgyz Republic, respectively, for the Group’s products.

LLC RG Brands Sever ("RG Brands Sever”) was established in 2016 In Novosibirsk oblast of the

Russian Federation for the purpose of performing sales and distribution roles in the
Russian Federation for the Group’s products.

12



JSC RG BRANDS AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED)
(in thousands of Tenge, unless otherwise stated)

All subsldiaries, other than RG Brands Kyrgyzstan, RG Brands Tashkent, RG Brands Sever, which
are registered in the Kyrgyz Republic, the Republic of Uzbekistan and the Russian Federatlon, are
registered In the Republic of Kazaikhstan.

The group’s head office is located In Aimaty and Its production facilities are located in Almaty city,
Almaty region and Kostanay city, all in the Republic of Kazakhstan. The Group also has sales and
distribution operatlons in Kyrgyz Republic and the Russlan Federation.

Legal address: 212 B, Raimbek ave., Almaty, the Republic of Kazakhstan

Ownershlp status: Private

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the number of employees was 1,450 and 1,650, respectively.
Bottling agreements with Pepsl| and Seven-Up International

The Group operates Its carbonated soft drinks production and distribution under an exclusive
bottling appointment agreement, concluded between RG Brands Kazakhstan and Pepsico Inc. and
between RG Brands Kazakhstan and Seven-Up International. Under these agreements, RG Brands
Kazakhstan received the rights for bottling, sale and distribution of PepsiCo and Seven-Up
products In Kazakhstan untll 21 July 2010 with automatic prolengation for 5 years and
subsequently for 5 years at the end of each 5-year period.

The rights for distributlon of Pepsico Inc., Pepsi Lipton International Limited and Seven-Up
products in Kyrgyz Republic are provided under agreements concluded with these companles till
31 December 2018, incluslve,

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS

Amendments to IFRS and the new Interpretations that ara mandatory effective for the
current period

In the current year, the following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have been
adopted and have affected the amounts reported In these consolidated financlal statements:

° Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative;
. Amendments to IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses;
. Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle - amendments to IFRS 12,

The adoption of the above mentioned Standards and Interpretations has not led to any changes
in the Group’s accounting policies. The amendments did not materially affect the consolidated
financial statements of the Group, except Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative as foliows.

Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

The Group has applied these amendments for the first time In the current year. The amendments
require an entity to provide disciosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate
changes In llabilities arising from financing activitles, including both cash and non-cash changes.

The Group’s llabllities arising from financing activitles consist of borrowlngs, and a reconcillation
between the opening and closing balances of these items Is provided In Note 20. Consistent with
the transition provisions of the amendments, the Group has not disclosed comparative
information for the prior period. Apart from the additional disclosure In Note 20, the application of
these amendments has had no other impact on the Group's consolldated financial statements.

13



JSC RG BRANDS AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED)
(in thousands of Tenge, unless otherwise stated)

New and revised IFRSs In Issue but not yet effective

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective:

Effective for
annual periods
baginning on or

after
1 January

IFRS 16 Leases 2019*
1 January

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 2018*
1 January

IFRS 9 Financlal Instruments 2018*
1 January

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 2021%*
1 January

IFRIC 22 Forelgn Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 2018*
1 January

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatments 2019%
Amendments to IFRS 2 - Classification and Measurement of Share-based Paymant 1 January

Transactions 2018*

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor a date to be
and is Assoclate or Joint Venture . determined*

1 January

Amendments to TAS 40 - Transfers of Investment Property 2018*
Amendments to IFRS 4 - Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance 1 January

Contracts 2018*
1 January

Amendments to IFRS 9 - Prepayment Features With Negative Compensation 2019*
1 January

Amendments to IAS 28 - Long-Term Interests In Assoclates and Joint Ventures 2019*
1 January

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle 2018*
1 January

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle 2019*

*with eariler application permitted
IFRS @ Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 issued In November 2009 introduced new requirements for the classification and
measurement of financlal assets. IFRS 9 was subsequently amended in October 2010 to include
requirements for the classification and measurernent of financlal liabilltles and for derecognition,
and In November 2013 to Include the new requirements for general hedge accounting. Another
revised version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014 malnly to include a) Impairment requirements
for financial assets and b) iimited amendments to the classification and measurement
requirements by Introducing a ‘falr value through other comprehensive income’ (FVTOCI)
measurement category for certain simple debt Instruments.
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The key requirements of IFRS 9 are:

. Classification and measurement of flnancial assets. Ali recognised financial assets that
are within the scope of IFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured at amortised cost
or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a business model whose
objective is to collect the contractual ¢ash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally
measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt Instruments
that are held within a business model whose objective Is achleved both by collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and that have contractual terms that give
rise on specifled dates to cash flows that are solely payments of princlpal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding, are generally measured at FVTOCI. Afl other debt investments
and equity Investments are measured at their fair vaiue at the end of subsequent accounting
periods. In addition, under IFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present
subsequent changes In the falr vaiue of an equity Investment (that is not held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination) in other
comprehensive income, with only dlvidend income generally recognised In profit or loss.

o Ciassification and measurement of financial llabllities. With regard to the
measurement of financlal liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss, IFRS 9
requires that the amount of change In the fair value of a financial liabllity that is attributable
to changes In the credit risk of that liablilty Is presented in other comprehensive income,
unless the recognition of such changes in other comprehensive income wouid create or
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in falr value attributable to a
financial liabllity's credit risk are not subsequently reclassifled to profit or loss. Under
IAS 39, the entlre amount of the change in the fair value of the financial liability designated
as fair value through profit or loss is presented in profit or loss.

° Impalrment. In relation to the Impairment of financlal assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected
credit loss model, as opposed to an Incurred credit loss model under IAS 39. The expected
credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected credit iosses and changes In
those expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes In credit risk since
Inltial recognitlon. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have
occurred before credit losses are recognised.

° Hedge accounting. The new general hedge accounting requirements retain the three types
of hedge accounting mechanisms currently available in IAS 39. Under IFRS 9, greater
flexibillty has been introduced to the types of transactions eligible for hedge accounting,
specifically broadening the types of Instruments that qualify for hedging instruments and the
types of risk components of non-financial items that are eligible for hedge accounting. In
addition, the effectiveness test has been overhauled and replaced with the principle of an
‘economic relationship’. Retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no longer
required. Enhanced disclosure requirements about an entlty’s risk management activities
have also been introduced.

Overall, the Group expects no significant impact on its balance sheet and equity, except for the
effect of applying the impairment requirements of IFRS 9. The Group expects changes In the loss
allowance methodology and is in the process of performing a detailed assessment to determine
the extent. The Group Is reviewing their debt and equity arrangements, processes for calculating
Impairment of recelvables and cash and cash equivalents and evaluating the disclosure
requirements of the new guldance.

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and
accounting treatments for both lessors and lessees. IFRS 16 will supersede the current lease
guidance including IAS 17 Leases and the related Interpretations when It becomes effective.

IFRS 16 distingulshes leases and service contracts on the basis of whether an Identified asset is
controlied by a customer. Distinctlons of operating leases (off balance sheet) and finance ieases
(on balance sheet) are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-
of-use asset and a corresponding llabllity have to be recognised for all leases by lessees (i.e. all
on balance sheet) except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.
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The right-of-use asset Is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost {subject to
certaln exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any
remeasurement of the lease liabllity. The lease liability Is Initlally measured at the present value
of the lease payments that are not pald at that date. Subsequently, the lease llability is adjusted
for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others.
Furthermore, the classlficatlon of cash flows will also be affected as operating lease payments
under IAS 17 are presented as operating cash flows; whereas under the IFRS 16 model, the iease
payments wiil be split into a principal and an interest portion which will be presented as flnancing
and operating cash flows respectively.

In contrast to lessee accounting, IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting
requirements In IAS 17, and continues to require a lassor to classify a lease elther as an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 16.

The management of the Group anticlpates that the application of this standard may have an
Impact on the Group's consolidated financlal statements. The Group Is currently assessing an
impact of the new standard on the financlal resuits. The Group is reviewing their agreements that
may contain lease and evaluating the disclosure requirements of the new guidance.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 establishes a single comprehensive model for entitles to use in accounting for revenue
arising from contracts with customers. IFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition
guidance including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related
Interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of
promlised goods or services to customers In an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the entity expects to be entitled In exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the
Standard Introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Ident!fy the contract with the customer;

Identify the performance obligations In the contract;

Determine the transaction price;

Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contracts;
Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfles a performance obligation.

Under IFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when or as a performance obligation Is satisfled,
I.e. when *control’ of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation Is
transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive guldance has been added In IFRS 15 to deal
with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 15.

In April 2016, the IASB Issued Clarifications to IFRS 15 In relation to the identification of
performance obligatlons, principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing application
guidance.

The management of the Group anticlpates that the application of this standard may have an
impact on the Group’s consolldated financial statements. The Group is currently assessing an
Impact of the new standard on the financial results. The Group Is reviewing their revenue
agreements and evaluating the disclosure requirements of the new guidance.

Management anticipates that the adoption of other standards will not have a material Impact on
the consolldated financial statements of the Group In the perlod of initlal application.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financlal statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS*).

Basls of preparation

These consolidated financlal statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except
for certain financfal instruments and land, buildings and constructions, machinery and equipment,
which are measured at fair value or at revalued amounts, as explained in the accounting policies
below. Historical cost Is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given In exchange
for assets.

Fair value Is the price that would be received to sell an asset or pald to transfer a llability In an
orderly transaction between market particlpants at the measurement date, regardless of whether
that price s directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the
falr value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes Into account the characteristics of the asset or
liabllity if market participants would take those characteristics into account when assesing the
asset or llability at the measurement date. Falr value for measurement and/or dlsclosure
purposes In these consolidated financlal statements Is determined on such a basls, except for
leasing transactlons that are within the scope of IAS 17, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value In IAS 2 or vaiue in
use In IAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level
1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the Inputs to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the falr value measurement in Its entirety, which are
described as follows:

¢ Level 1 inputs - are quoted prices (unadjusted) In active markets for identical assets or
liabllitles that the entity can access at the measurement date;

® Level 2 inputs - are Inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liablilty, either directly or Indirectly; and

) Level 3 Inputs - are unobservable inputs for the asset or liabllity.

Golng concern

These consolldated financlal statements have been prepared on a going concern basls, which
assumes the realizatlon of the Group's assets and discharge of Its liabilities in the normal course
of business within the foreseeable future.

The princlpal accounting policies are set out below

Basls of consolidation

The consolldated financlal statements Incorporate the financial statements of the Company and
entftles controlled by the Company (Its subsidiaries). Control Is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the Investee;

) Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its Involvement with the investee; and
) has the ability to use Its power to affect its returns.
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When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an Investee, It has power over
the Investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee unllaterally. The Company conslders all relevant facts and
clrcumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights In an investee are
sufficlent to give It power, Including:

» the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of
holdings of the other vote holders;
potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote hoiders or other parties;
rlghts arising from other contractual arrangements; and
any additlonal facts and clrcumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not
have, the current ability to direct the relevant actlvities at the time that declslons need to be
made, including voting patterns at prevlous shareholders’ meetings.

Income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are Included in the
consolidated statement of proflt or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the
Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to controi the subsldiary.

Profit or loss and each component of cther comprehensive Income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive Income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-centrolling interests even if this results
in the non-controlling Interests having a deficit balance.

Whenh necessary, adjustments are made to the flnanclal statements of subsidiaries to bring thelir
accounting policies into line with the Group's accounting pelicies.

All intragroup assets and llabllitles, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated In full on consolldation.

Segmantal! reporting

Based on the information contalned in the Internal reports, which are reviewed by key
management responsible for decislon making on operational actlvity for the purpose of allocation
of resources to segments and assessment of operational results, the Group |dentifies the following
operating segments, which are: own brands: juices and beverages; own brands: packed tea,
packed milk and food products; and wholesale activity.

The Group monitors muitiple profitabllity such as: profit before tax, profit for the year and gross
profit. Despite this, profit for the year is the measure reported to the operating decision makers
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.

Foreign currencles

The consolidated financial statements are expressed In Kazakhstanl tenge (“tenge” or “KZT™),
which is the functional currency of the Company and Its subsidlaries in Kazakhstan and the
presentation currency for these consolldated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the Indlvidual entities, transactions In currencies other
than the entity’s functlonal currency, tenge, are recorded at the rates of exchange prevalling at
the transaction dates. At each reporting date, monetary items denominated In foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevalling at the reporting date. Non-monetary items measured at
historical cost In a forelgn currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences are recognised in the consolldated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income In the perlod In which they arise, except for exchange differences which
relate to assets under constructlon for future productive use, which are included in the cost of
those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs cn forelgn currency
borrowlngs.
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For the purpose of preparing consolidated financial statements, the financlal statements of RG
Brand Kyrgyzstan, RG Brands Tashkent and RG Brands Sever (the Group’s foreign operations)
were translated from Kyrgyz Som, Uzbek Sum and Russlan Roubles, the functional currency of
these entitles, Into tenge using the following exchange rates:

. assets and llabllities were translated using exchange rates at the reporting date;
revenue and expenses were translated at the average exchange rate for the period provided
that exchange rate has not substantlally changed during the annual period, otherwise the
exchange rate as of the transaction date Is applied; and

. gain/(loss) arising from this translation Is recorded as foreign exchange differences arising
on translation of foreign operatlons In other comprehensive Income/(loss).

As at 31 December 2017, the principal rate of exchange was US Dollar (*USD”) 1 = tenge 332.33
(31 December 2016: USD 1 = tenge 333.29), and for the vear ended 31 December 2017 average
rate of exchange USD 1 = tenge 326.08 (2016: USD 1 = tenge 341.76).

Revenue recognition

Revenue Is measured at the falr value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue Is
reduced for estimated customer returns, discounts and other simllar allowances.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and titles have
passed, at which time all the following conditlons are satisfied:

o the Group has transferred to the buyer the slgnificant risks and rewards of ownership of the
goods;

® the Group retains neither continuing managerlal involvement to the degree usually
assoclated with ownership nor effectlve control over the goods sold;

° the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

) it is probable that the econemlic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the

Group; and
° the costs Incurred or to be incurred In respect of the transaction can be measured rellably.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classlfied as operating
leases,

Assets held under finance leases are recognized as assets of the group at their fair value at the
date of acquisition or, If lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The
corresponding liability to the lessor is included In the consolldated statement of financial position
as a flnance lease cbligation. Lease payments are apportioned between filnance charges and a
reduction of the lease obllgatlon so as to achieve a constant rate of Interest on the remaining
balance of the llabllity. Finance expenses are recognlsed iImmediately in profit or loss, unless they
are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalized In accordance with
the group’s general policy on borrowing costs. Contingent rentals are recognized as expenses in
the periods In which they are Incurred.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basls over
the term of the relevant lease.

Retirement benefit costs

In accordance with the legislative requirements of the Republic of Kazakhstan, the Group pays an
amount equivalent to 10% of each employee’s wage into a accumulation pension fund. However,
in accordance with Kazakhstan legisiation, from 1 January 2017, the contribution per employee
should not exceed 183,443 tenge tenge per month. Prior to this date, the maximum monthly
contributlon per employee was 171,443 tenge. These amounts are expensed when they are
Incurred. Pension fund payments are withheld from employees’ salaries and included with other
payrol! costs In profit or loss.
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Income taxes

The Income tax expense represents the sum of tax currently payable and deferred income tax.

Current tax

Tax currently payable is based on taxable income for the year. Taxable income differs from net
profit as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive Income
as [t excludes Income or expense items that are taxable or deductible in other years and It further
excludes Items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s llabllity for current tax is
calculated using tax rates effective at the reporting date.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax Is recognized on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and llabllitles in
the consolidated financial statements, and the corresponding tax bases used In the computation
of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax
liablilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assets
are generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it Is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilized. Such assets and liabilities are not recognized if a temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the Initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities In a transaction that affects neither taxable profit not accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabllitles are recognized for taxable temporary differences assoclated with
Investments in subsidlarles and assoclates, and interests In joint ventures, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and It is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences assoclated with such investments and Interests are only
recognized to the extent that It is probable that there will be sufficlent taxable profits agalnst
which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future,

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets Is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the
extent that Is no lenger probable that sufficient taxable income will be avallable to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered. Deferred tax assets and liabllitles are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply In the period in which the liability Is settled or the asset reaiized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilitles are offset when there is a legaliy enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabillties and when they relate to income taxes levied by
the same tax authority and the Group Intends to settle its current tax assets and llabilities on a
net basis.

Current and deferred taxes are recognized as an expense or Income in profit or loss, except when
they relate to items that are recognized In other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the tax Is also recognized In other comprehensive incore or directly in equity, or
where they arise from the initlal accounting for a business combination. In the case of a business
comblnation, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

Earnings per share

Baslc earnings per share is calculated by dividing net profit attributable to the equity holders of
the Group for the period by the weighted average number of Issued common stocks, while diluted
earnings per share is calculated considering the weighted average number of dliuting share
options in additlon to the number of Issued common stocks.
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Property, plant and equipment
Land and bulldings and constructions, machinery and equipment

Subsequent to initial recognition, land, buildings and construction, machinery and equipment are
carried at revalued amounts being their fair value at the date of the revaluation.

Revaluations are made with sufficlent regularity such that the carrylng amount of property, plant
and equipment does not differ materially from that which would be determined using estimated
falr values at the reporting date. Accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is
eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount Is restated to the
revalued amount of the asset.

Any revaluation surplus is recognized In other comprehensive income, except to the extent it
reverses a revaluation decrease of the carrying amount of the same asset previously recognized
in proflt or loss. In this case a surplus Is debited within the amount of expenses previously
recognized. A revaluation deficit Is recognized in profit or loss, except when a deflcit directly
decreases a previous surplus on the same asset. In such cases a deficlt decreases the reserve
amount for the assets recognized in other comprehensive income.

An annual transfer from the asset revaluation reserve to retalned earnings is made for the
difference between depreciation charged to the revalued assets and depreclation charged to the
assets’ original cost. Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating to the particular asset being
sold is transferred to retalned earnings.

Property, plant and equipment, other than land, bulldings and constructions, machinery and
equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment other than land, buildings and constructions, machinery
and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciatlon and Impairment losses. The cost
of self-constructed assets inciudes the cost of materials, direct labor costs and an appropriate
proportion of construction related overheads. Interest is capitalized In accordance with the
accounting policy In respect of borrowings and borrowing costs outlined below. Where an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises major components having different useful iives, they
are accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment.

Construction-in-progress

Capltal construction-in-progress includes costs Incurred on specific assets that have not been
compieted or placed into service. When such assets are completed and are ready for their
intended use, they are transferred to the relevant property, plant and equipment category and
depreciated on the basls described below.

Assets received on free of charge basis

Assets recelved free of charge or for which a partlal rebate is recelved are recognized as ltems of
property, plant and equipment at the falr market value of the asset received. Such assets are
subsequently depreciated over the useful life of a typical asset of that class. The value of the
portion of the asset which was recelved free of charge through a rebate Is recognized as deferred
income and amoitlzed over the useful life of the asset received.

Assets acquired with deferred payment

Assets acquired with payment deferred beyond normal credit term are recognized as items of
property, plant and equipment at the amount of cash or cash equlvalents paid or at the falr value
of the other conslderation given to acquire an asset at the time of Its acquisition. The difference
between the cost of acquisition and the total payment Is recognized as interest over the perlod of
credit unless such interest is capitallzed on the basis of the policy on borrowings described below.
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Subsequent expenditures

Expenditure Incurred to replace a component of an item of property, plant and equipment that Is
accounted for separately, is capltalized at the present value of the component belng depreciated.
Other subsequent expenditure is capltalized only when It Increases the future economic benefits
of the item of property, plant and equipment. All other expenditure is recognized in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an expense when
incurred.

Depreciation other than depreciation of production assets

Depreciation is charged and recorded In profit or loss on a stralght-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of the individual assets.

Depreclation starts from the date of acquisition or, In respect of Internally-constructed assets,
from the time an asset Is completed and ready for use. Land Is not depreciated. The following
average useful economic lives are used:

Buildings and constructions 13 to 20 years
Machinery and equipment 5 to 14 years
Vehicles 7 to 14 years
Other 3 to 14 years

The estimated useful life and depreciation methodology are reviewed at the end of each annual
reporting period, with the effect of any changes In estimate belng accounted for on a prospective

basls.

Leasehold Improvements are depreciated over the lesser of useful life and the lease term of the
relevant asset.

Assets held under flnance leases are depreciated over their expected usefui llves on the same
basis as owned assets or, where shorter, the relevant lease term.

Depreciation of production assets

Production method of depreciation Is used In production divisions of the Group, and Is applied to
property, plant and equipment directly Invoived into production of finished goods of the Group.
Depreciation is charged and recorded in profit or loss on units of production method, assessed
based on technicatl life of the asset and Its relative efficlency.

Disposal of property, plant and equipment

An item of property, plant and equipment Is derecognlzed after It is disposed of or when the
recelpt of future economic benefits from its use or disposal is no longer expected. Any Income or
expenses arising upon derecognltion of an asset (calculated as a difference between the net
proceeds from the disposal and carrying value of the asset) are included into the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive Income in the reporting period in which the
asset Is derecognized.

Impailrment of property, plant and equlpment

At the end of each reporting perlod, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant
and equipment to determine whether there is any Indication that those assets have suffered an
Impairment loss. If any such Indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated In
order to determine the extent of the Impairment loss (If any), Where it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonabie and consistent basis of
allocation can be identifled, corporate assets are also allocated to Individual cash-generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and conslistent allocation basis can be Identified.
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The recoverable amount Is the higher of fair value less selling costs, and value in use. In
assessing value In use, estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of meoney and
the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been

adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than Its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An Impairment loss is recognized immediately as loss, unless the relevant
asset Is carrled at a revalued amount, In which case the Impairment loss Is treated as a
revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-
generating unit) Is Increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrylng amount that would have been
determined had no Impairment loss been recognized for the asset (¢cash-generating unit} In prior
years. A reversal of an impalrment loss Is recognized Immediately in profit or loss, uniess the
relevant asset s carrled at a revalued amount, In which case the reversal of the impairment loss
Is treated as a revaluation Increase.

Invastment property

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation
(including property under construction for such purposes). Investment properties are measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. The Group apply fair value model for the
measurement after recognition. The fair vaiue of investment property on the basls of a valuation
by an Independent appraiser. A gain or loss arising from a change In the fair value of Investment
property is recognised in profit or loss for the period In which it arises.

An Investment property Is derecognized upon disposal or when the Investment property Is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included In profit or loss in the
period in which the property is derecognized.

Asseats held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition Is
regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the non-current asset is avallable for
immediate sale In its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which
should be expected to quallfy for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of
classification.

Non-current assets classlifled as held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Inventory

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value, Costs comprise direct materials
and, where applicable, direct labor costs and those overheads which have been Incurred in
bringing the inventorles to thelr present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the first-
In, first-out ("FIFO™) method. Net reallzable value represents the estimated selling price less all
estimated costs to complete production and costs to be Incurred in marketing, selling and
distribution. The Group creates provisions for slow moving and obsolete inventory based on
Inventory turnover ratios and current marketing plans.
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Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financlal liabilitles are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the Instrument.

Financial assets and financlal Nabilities are initlally measured at fair value. Transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities {other
than financial assets and financlal liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financlal assets or financial liabllitles, as appropriate, on Initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financlal assets or financial
llabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financlal assets

Financial assets are classifled Into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair value
through profit and loss’ ("FVTPL"), *held-to-maturity investments’, ‘avallable-for-sale’ (AFS)
financlal assets and ‘loans and recelvables’. The classification depends on the nature and purpose
of the financlal assets and Is determined at the time of Initial recognition.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is @ method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset
and of allocating Interest income over the relevant period. The effective Interest rate Is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financlal
asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter perlod.

Income Is recognized on an effective interest basls for debt Instruments other than those financial
assets designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as FVTPL where the financial asset Is elther held-for-trading or it is
designated as at FVTPL,

A financlal asset Is classified as held-for-trading If:

it has been acquired princlpaily to be sold in the near future; or
it Is a part of an Identifled portfoilo of financlal instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattemn of short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derlvative that is not designated and effectlve as a hedging Instrument.

A financial asset other than a financlal asset held-for-trading may be deslgnated as FVTPL upon
Initial recognition If:

. such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

° the financial asset forms part of a group of financlal assets or financial liabilities or both,
which Is managed and Its performance Is evaluated on a fair value basis, In accordance with
the Group's documented risk management or Investment strategy, and Information about
the grouping Is provided internally on that basis; or

. it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39
permits the entire combined contract (asset or liabiiity) to be designated as FVTPL.

Financlal assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognized in
profit or loss. Net gain or loss recognized in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest
earned on the flnancial asset. Falr value Is determined in 2 manner described In Note 26.

Held-to-maturity investments

Bills of exchange and debentures with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates

that the Group has the positive Intent and ability to hold to maturlty are classified as held-to-

maturity Investments. Held-to-maturity Investments are recorded at amortized cost using the

effective Interest method less Impairment, with revenue recognized on an effective yield basls.
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Available-for-sale ("AFS”) financial assets

Listed shares and listed redeemable notes heid by the Group that are traded In an active market
are classlfied as being AFS and are stated at fair value. The Group also has investments in
unlisted shares that are not traded in an actlve market but that are also classified as AFS financial
assets and stated at falr value (because the directors consider that falr value can be reliably
measured). Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 26. Gains and losses arising
from changes In fair value are recognized In other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investments revaluation reserve, with the exception of impalirment losses, Interest calculated
using the effectlve interest method, and foreign exchange gains and iosses on monetary assets,
which are recognized in profit or loss. Where the investment Is disposed of or is determined to be
impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the Investments revaluation
reserve s reclassifled to profit or loss.

Dividends on AFS equity Instruments are recognized In profit or loss when the Group’s right to
recelve payments Is established.

The fair value of AFS monetary assets denominated in a foreign currency Is determined in that

foreign currency and translated at the exchange rate at the reporting date. A change In fair value
attributable to translation differences that result from a change In the amortized cost of the asset
is recognized in profit or loss, while other changes are recognized in other comprehensive Income.

Loans and recelvables

Trade recelvables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinabie payments that
are not quoted in an active market are classifled as loans and receivables. Loans and recelvables
are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest methed, less any impalrment.
Interest income Is recognized by applying the effective interest rate.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equlivalents include cash on hand, cash In banks and fixed-term deposits with an
original maturity of three months or less. Where restricted for use, cash and cash equlvalents are
disclosed appropriately in the notes to the consolldated financial statements.

Impairment of financial assets

Financlal assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of Impairment at each
reporting date. Financial assets are impaired where there Is objective evidence that, as a result of
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financlal asset, the estimated
future cash flows of the Investment have been impacted. For financial assets carried at amortized
cost, the amount of the impairment Is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of a financlal asset is reduced by the Impairment ioss for all financlal assets
with the exceptlon of trade recelvables where the carrying amount Is reduced through the use of
an ailowance account. When a trade recelvable is uncollectible, It Is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoverles of amounts previously written off are credited against
the allowance account. Changes In the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognized
In profit or loss,

With the exception of AFS equity Instruments, If, in & subsequent perlod, an impalrment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impalrment
was recognized, the previously recognized impalrment loss Is reversed through profit or loss to
the extent that the carrying amount of the Investment at the date the Impairment Is reversed
does not exceed what the amortized cost would have been had the Impairment not been

recognized.

In respect of AFS equity securities, any increase In fair value subsequent to an impairment loss Is
recognized directly In other comprehensive Income.
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Financial ilabilitles and equlty Instruments issued by the Group

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity Instruments are classified as either financial llabllities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity
after deducting all of Its liabilitles. Equity instruments are recorded as proceeds are recelved, net

of direct issue costs.

Consideration pald for reacquisition of own equity Instruments are recognized directly In equity.
The Group recognizes the proportion of the shares that are purchased out of share capital of the
Group (l.e. at par value) as treasury shares and reduce Its retained earnings for the proportion of
shares that are purchased out of the profit of the Group (i.e. excess of par vaiue),

Compound Instruments

The component parts of compound Instruments (preferred shares with cumufative, mandatory
dividends) Issued by the Group are classifled separately as financlal iiabilitles and equlty in
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity Instrument. At the date of Issue, the fair value of the liabllity component is
estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for simllar debt instruments. The residual
amount, If any, determined by deducting the amount of the liabllity component from the fair
value of the compound Instrument as a whole, attributed to equity component. Afterwards,
llability component Is valued In accordance with the same principles as loans, and equity
component, if any, is valued In accordance with principles of authorized capital.

Financial llabllities are classified as either financial liabllities at FVTPL or other financlai liabilitles.

Financial llabilities at FVTPL

Financlal liabilltles are classifled at FVTPL where the financlal liability Is either held-for-trading or
It Is designated at FVTPL.

A financial liabllity is classified as held-for-trading If:

. It has been incurred principally to be repurchased In the near future; or

. it is a part of an identified portfolio of financlal Instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o It is a derivative that has not been designated and is not effective as a hedging Instrument.

A financlal liability other than a financial llability held-for-trading may be designated as FVTPL
upon Initial recegnition If:

. such a designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
Inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

o the financial liabllity forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabllities or both,
which is managed and Its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with
the Group’s documented risk management or Investment strategy, and Information about
the grouping Is provided Internally on that basls; or

s It forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement permits the entire combined contract
{asset or llabillity} to be designated as FVTPL.

Financlal liabilities at FVTPL are stated at falr value, with any galn or loss arising on
remeasurement In profit or ioss. The net gain or loss recognized in profit or loss incorporates any
dividends or Interest paid on the flnancial llabllity.
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4.

Qther financial liabllities

Other financlal llabliities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of
transaction costs.

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective Interest
method, with interest expense recognized on an effective yield basls.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or implled) as a result of
a past event, it Is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognized as a provision Is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle
the present obligation as at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligatlon, its carrylng amount Is
the present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of an economic beneflt required to settle a provision Is expected to be
recovered from a third party, the recelvable is recognized as an asset If it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be recelved and the amount of the recelvable can be measured reliably.
Provislons for restructuring costs are recognized when the Group has a detailed formal
restructuring plan which has been notified to the partles concerned. A restructuring provision
measures only the direct expenditure arlsing from the restructuring, Including those amounts that
are both necessarily entalled by the restructuring and not assoclated with the ongoing activities of
the entity.

Reclassifications

The Group’s' management determined that certain reciassifications should be made to Note 5
Revenue as the combined classes of revenue share common characteristics; aiso there were
changes in the presentation of segment information (Note 23), Accordingly, comparative
Information as at and for the year ended 31 December 2016 was restated. The reclassification on
comparative information did not have any effect on consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolldated statement of financlal position and consolidated
statement of cash flows.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, management
is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate Is revised if the revision
affects only that perlod, or in the perfod of the revision and future perlods if the revision affects
both current and future perlods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position, that have a significant

risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilitles within the
next financial year.
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Provision for doubtful debts and obsolete inventories

Management’s determination of provislons for doubtful debt and for siow-moving and obsolete
inventeries requires the management to make assumptlons based on their best estimates of the
Group'’s ability to reallse these assets. Management may, as a result of changes in the general
economic or other similar clrcumstances subsequent to the date of the consolidated statement of
financlal position, draw conclusions which could be different to those made in preparing these
consolidated flnanclal statements,

Revaiuation of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s land, buildings and constructions, machinery and equipment are carried at a revalued
amount,

The valuation of the Group’s land, buildings and constructlons was performed by an independent
appraiser as at 31 March 2014. The valuation, which conforms to International Valuation
Standards, was determined by reference to (a) the cost approach and (b) the market for similar
or comparable assets, adjusted for differences with the asset under valuation.

The valuation of the Group's machinery and equipment was performed by an Independent
appraiser as at 1 February 2016. An independent valuation of the falr value of machinery and
equipment was carried out In accordance with International Valuatlon Standards. The appralsal
value was determined using the Income and cost methods. The description of the methods are
disclosed in Note 12.

The Management of the Group believes that fair value of land, bulldings and constructions,
machinery and equipment does not significantly differ from its carrylng value as at
31 December 2017.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

As described In Note 3, the Group reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and
equipment at the end of each annual reporting perlod. The assessment of the useful life of an
asset |s dependent upon factors such as economic use, repair and maintenance programs,
technoiogical advancements and other business conditions. Management’s assessment of the
useful lives of property, plant and equipment reflects relevant Information avallable to them as at
the date of these consolidated financlal statements.

REVENUE

2017 2016
Sales of carbonated soft drinks and julce containing drinks 33,892,764 29,316,081
Sales of packed tea, packed mllk and foed products 18,377,093 19,291,204
Sales of wholesale products 161.088 133,517

5254305945 _ 48,740,802

COST OF SALES

2017 2016
Raw and other materials 27,417,438 27,422,460
Depreciation and amortization 1,174,499 1,123,665
Payroll and related taxes 766,163 733,720
Repalrs 546,815 393,864
Utllities 490,664 497,871
Cost of sales of wholesale products 227,850 66,811
Other costs 75.803 91,699

30,699,232 30,330,090
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SELLING EXPENSES

Advertising campalgns and market research
Transportatfon

Sales agents expenses

Advertlsing and promotional materials
Payroll and related taxes

Depreclation of marketing equipment

Lease of vehicles, warehouses and office premises
Provision for doubtful debts

Write-off of materials

Business trip expenses

Taxes, other than Income tax
Relmbursement of selling expenses

Other selling expenses

2017 2016
3,532,621 2,262,529
3,133,096 2,757,594
2,217,319 2,359,620
1,315,019 1,772,328

917,634 727,912
848,314 877,893
550,846 368,441
160,192 -
26,014 23,740
20,416 16,594
816 8,884
(528,764) (913,229)
385,135 454,110

__12578,658

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Payroll and related taxes
Consulting services

Taxes, other than income tax
Waste goods wrlte-off
Repairs

Bank charges

Business trlp expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Transportation expenses
Provision for doubtful debts
Legal services
Representative expenses
Utllities

Securlty services
Communicatlon services
Tralning

Insurance

Rent

Penalties and flnes

Provislon for slow-moving and obsolete inventory
OCthers

FINANCE COSTS

Interest on borrowings
Interest on notes payable
Preferred shares dividends

10716416

2017 2016
1,994,258 1,881,025
314,228 349,903
249,147 349,487
215,972 182,856
185,766 45,432
183,746 169,914
159,428 84,966
104,710 145,646
96,169 98,979
81,104 6,116
70,199 69,477
65,081 73,714
58,102 55,191
39,633 39,200
38,807 26,718
34,719 11,709
25,680 30,366
16,500 18,830
4,754 11,985
4,347 -
246,891 257,764
4,189,241 3,909,278

2017 2016
1,651,110 1,911,886
- 4,252
- 1,064
1,651,110 1,917,202
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10. TAXATION

2017 2016
Current Incoma tax expense 491,521 473,633
Deferred Income tax expense 125,644 391,633
Current Income tax expense In respect of prior years - {91,591}
Total Income tax expense 617.165 773,675

Deferred taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and llabllitles for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for tax purposes.
Deferred Income tax assets and liabllities are calculated at the rate expected to apply in the
period when assets are realized or llabilities are settled.

The tax effect on the major temporary differences that give rise to deferred tax assets and
llabllities as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 are presented below:

31 Decembar 31 December

2017 2016
Deferrad tax assets:
Provision for doubtful debt 44,460 12.126
Provislion for unused vacation and bonuses 36,461 53,311
Provision for slow-moving and cbsolete Inventory 7,710 6,672
Taxes 3.501 4.597
92,132 76,706
Deferred tax llabllitles:
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (3,007,858) |2.866,788)
(3,007,858) {2.866,788]
Defarrad tax ilzbliltles, nat (2@15,7282 {2,790,082)

In 2017 and 2016 the statutory tax rate effective in the Republic of Kazakhstan, the location of
the majority of the Group’s entities, was 20%.

Below Is a reconciliation of theoretical income tax at 20% to the actual tax expense recorded In
the Group's consolldated statement of profit or loss and other comprehenslve Income:

2017 2018

Profit before tax 2612 187 1.798.335
Income tax at the statutory tax rate of 20% 522,437 359,667
Effect of other permanent differences 94,728 505.599

617,165 865,266
Adjustments recognised In the current year in relation to the current

tax of prior years - (91,591)

Income tax expensae 617,165 773.875
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11.

The change in deferred tax was presented as follows:

Recognisad In
other
1 January Recognised In comprehensive 31 December
2017 profit and loss Income 2017
Provision for doubtful debt 12,126 32,334 - 44,460
Provision for unused vacation
and bonuses 53,311 {16,850) - 36,461
Taxes 4,597 (1,096) - 3,501
Provision for slow-moving and
obsolete Inventory 6,672 1,038 - 7,710
Property, plant and
equipment and Intangible
assets _(2,866,788) {141,070) - (3,007,858)
(2,790,082) (125 644) - _(2915,726)
Recognised In
other
1 January Recognlsed In comprehensive 31 Deceambar
2016 profit and loss income 2016
Provislon for unused vacation
and bonuses 49,654 3,657 - 53,311
Provision for doubtful debt 29,695 (17,569) - 12,126
Taxes 3,221 1,376 - 4,597
Proviston for slow-moving and
obsolete inventory 6,725 (53) - 6,672
Property, plant and
equipment and Intangible
assets (1,573,367) (379,044 (914,377) _ (2.866.788)
{1,484,072) (391,6833) (814,377) (2,780,082}

EARNINGS PER SHARE AND BOOK VALUE PER SHARE

Earnings per share is calculated as the proflt for the year attributable to equity holders divided by
the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding during the year, as

shown below.

Calculation of baslc and diluted aarnings per share

Profit for the year
Welghted average number of common shares

Basic and dliuted aarnings per share, In tenge

2017 2018
1,995,022 1,024,660
3,148,271 3.147.346

634 326

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, there are ne dilutive financial instruments or other financial
instruments that may require the Group to issue common shares.

The book value per one common share Is presented below:

Calculation of book valua per common share

Net assets, excluding Intanglble assets as at 31 December

Number of issued cornmon shares (Note 18)

Book valua per common share, In tenge

31

31 December 31 Dacember
2017 2016
13,426,709 11,892,224

3.148.271 3.148.271
4,265 3.777
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The book value per one preferred share Is presented below:

Calculation of book value per preferred share

Qutstanding balance of preferred shares held within the Group as at
31 December

Nurmnber of Issued preferred shares (Note 18)

Book value per preferred share, In tenge

32

31 Decamber 31 December
2017 2016

947,400 947,400

789,500 789,500

1.200 1,200
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Machinery
Bulldings and and Construction
Land constructions equipment Vehicles Other In progress Total

Cost or revalued amount
As at 1 January 2016 1,234,389 5,479,879 19,682,010 343,944 810,382 653,834 28,204,438
Additons - 3,036 404,978 784 87,754 144,407 640,959
Revaluation increase - - 4,571,884 - - - 4,571,884
Internal transfers - 597,303 38,287 - 74,621 (710,211) -
Transfer from assets held for sale 17,930 1,057,830 - - - - 1,075,760
Elimination of accumulated depreciation due to

revaluation - - (8,534,670) - - - (8,534,670)
Disposals - - (111,908) (61,232 (43,769) - {216,909}
As at 31 December 2016 1,252 319 7,138,048 16,050,581 283,496 928,988 88,030 25,741 462
Addltions 200 - 1,141,471 10,999 105,333 813,190 2,071,193
Internal transfers - 80,213 236,633 - 12,635 (329,481) -
Disposals - - {91 284) (48,858 (35,291} (60,383) (235,816}
As at 31 December 2017 1,252,519 7,218,261 17,337 401 245,637 1,011,665 511,356 27,576,839
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2016 - (1,160,847) (8,669,384) (223,644) (646,094} - (10,699,969)
Charge for the year (530,102) (1,431,143) (38,085) (143,313} - (2,142,643)
Elimination of accumulated depreciation due to

revaluation - - 8,534,670 - - - 8,534,670
Disposals - - 1,131 59,300 31,776 - 92,207
As at 31 December 2016 - (1,690,949 (1,564,726 (202,429) t757.631}) - 14,215,735}
Charge for the year - (561,479) (1,409,662) {(27,200) (111,429) - (2,109,770)
Disposals - - 44 968 44 671 15,785 - 105,424
As at 31 December 2017 - [2,252.428) 12,929.420] (184.958) (853,275} (6,220,081}
Net book value

As at 31 December 2017

1,252,519 4,965,833 14,407,981 50,679 158,390 511,356 21,356,758

1,252,319 5447,099 14 485,855 81,067 : 171,357 88,030 21,525,727

As at 31 December 2016
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13.

14.

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, property, plant and equipment with a carrying value of
10,637,731 thousand tenge and 8,777,159 thousand tenge, respectively, has been pledged to
secure borrowings (Note 20). The Group Is not allowed to pledge these assets as security for

other borrowings or to sell them.

In 2016, a valuation of the Group’s machinery and equipment was performed by an Independent
appraiser. As a result, the Group recognized a gain on revaluation of machinery and equipment of
4,571,884 thousand tenge less deferred tax liability of 914,377 thousand tenge In other
comprehensive income. The appraisal value was determined using the iIncome approach and cost
approach that Is an estimate of the Level 3 fair value In the fair value hierarchy.

The income approach Included determination of the value of property, plant and equipment based
on discounting of cash flows. In construction of cash flow projectlons, the appralser considered
the general state of the world economy and the economy of the Republic of Kazakhstan. The
forecast flgures for Inflation and GDP growth were adopted from GlobalInsight data. The
discounting rate of 14.06% was applied.

The cost approach included determination of the value of assets on depreclated replacement cost.
Within the cost approach, the fair value of machinery and equipment was calculated using Indices
of Increase in value of flxed assets based on the data of Agency on Statistics of the Republic of

Kazakhstan.

The calculation made by the appralser Indicated that the fair vaiue of machinery and equipment
determined withIn the income approach is higher than the fair value determined within the cost
approach. Therefore, the fair value of the assets was accepted according to the value determined
within the cost approach.

Had the Group’s land and buildings and constructions, machinery and equipment been measured
on a historical cost basis, thelr carrylng amount as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 would have
been 17,228,585 thousand tenge and 17,158,106 thousand tenge, respectively.

ADVANCES PAID
31 December 31 Decembar

2017 2016
Nen-current:
Advances pald for property, plant and equipment 70,831 -
Other 34.348 20,500
105,179 20,500
Current:
Advances paid for services and Inventory 1,024,824 468,610
Less: Provislon for doubtful debts 1130,179]) (43.071)
894,645 425,539
INVENTORIES
31 Dacamber 31 Decembaer
2017 2018
Finished goods 3,229,882 3,091,316
Raw materials 2,799,687 2,263,421
Packing materlals 697,382 1,079,235
Spare parts 256,380 272,296
Other 353,311 443,091
Less: Provision for slow-moving and obsolete Inventory 139.676) (33,877)

7,296,966 7,115,482
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As at 31 December 2017, inventories with an assessed value of not less

3,950,000 thousand tenge (31 December 2016; 2,555,099 thousand tenge) have been pledged

to secure borrowlngs (Note 20).

15. TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

31 Decembar 31 Dacember

2017 2016
Trade accounts recelvabie 1,792,015 2,083,606
Less: provision for doubtful debts 1111.536) 1.454)

1,680.479

2,082,152

As at 31 December 2017, trade accounts receivable were denomlinated In the following

currencles:
31 Decamber 31 Dacembar
2017 2016
In Tenge 1,464,624 1,452,265
In Russian Roubles 119,826 539,441
In Kyrgyz Soms 95,391 90,198
In US Dollars 638 248

1,680,479

The agelng analysis of trade accounts receivables Is as follows:

2,082,152

31 December 31 Decembar
2017 2018
Total neither past due nor Impaired 1,600,174 1,916,452
Past due but not Impaired
60-180 days 55,805 134,286
180-360 days 24,500 31,414
Total past due but not impaired 80,305 165,700
Impaired
180-360 days 24,500 1,454
over 360 days 87,036 -
Tolal Impaired 111,536 1,454
Provision for doubtful debts (111,536) i1.454)
1680479 2,082,152

In determining the recoverability of trade accounts receivabie, the Group considers any change in
the credit quality of trade receivables from the date of origination of recelvables to the reporting
date. The concentratlon of credit risk is limited due to the existence of a large customer base, not

related with the Group.
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16. OTHER ASSETS

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016 other current assets are presented below:

31 Dacember 31 December
2017 2016

Other receivables from related parties (Note 25) 274,912 252,113
Other taxes receivable 231,396 111,270
Prepaid expenses 202,380 76,468
Recelvables from empiloyees 91,953 77,641
Other recelvables 37,993 107,816
Less: Provision for doubtful debts 115,756) 115,107}
822,878 609,201

17. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
31 December 31 December

2017 2016
Cash on bank accounts In forelgn currency 4,519,690 14,347,573
Cash on bank accounts In tenge 464,309 667,770
Cash In transit 227,493 115,514
Petty cash 3,973 2,397
Cash on broker's account (Note 25) 4,813 4,813
Cash on other bank accounts 16,159 414,292

5,236,437 15,552,359

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, other current assets were denominated In tenge.

Other financlal assets include Investment held for trading, coupon bonds of Bank Julius Bar & Co.
with interest rates of 1.05%-1.22% per annum for amount of 2,990,970 thousand tenge as at 31

December 2017.
As at 31 December 2017 other financlal assets are presented In USD dollars.

As at 31 December, cash and cash equlvalents were denominated in the followlng currencles:

31 Dacembar 31 Dacembar

2017 2016
In US Dollars 3,477,953 14,675,901
In Euro 805,861 1,250
In Tenge 675,658 624,874
In Kyrgyz Soms 137,221 109,439
In Russlan Roubles 123,352 99,689
In Uzbek Sums 16,389 41,203
In Korean Wons 3 3
5,236,437 15,552,359

As at 31 December 2017, cash and cash equivalents Includes cash in Bank Jullus Bir & Co. of
3,359,988 thousand tenge (31 December 2016: 12,150,053 thousand tenge). The rating from

Moody’s credit rating agency of the bank was Aa2 on 5 December 2016.
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13.

19-

20.

CAPITAL

The Company’s registered and Issued share capltal as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 Is
2,787,696 thousand tenge. As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, share capltal was fully paid.

Issued share capltal as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 consisted of 1,800,000 common shares
with a par value of 1,000 tenge each, 1,642,092 common shares with a par value of 1 tenge each
and 10,638 common shares at a par value of 3,634 tenge each and 789,500 preferred shares at a
par value of 1,200 tenge each.

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the sharsholders of the Company were as follows:

Ownership Number of common Amount
Sharsholder sharas
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Mazhibayev K.K. 61.77% 61.77% 1,944,771 1,944,771 944,726 944,726
Koshkinbayev Y.Z. 26.76% 26.76% 842,384 842,384 397,751 397,751
LLP Successful

Investment Trust 8.89% 8.89% 279,968 279,968 258,948 258,948
Kaltayev T.S. 0.95% 0.95% 30,000 30,000 33,400 33,400
Bayazerov R.D. 0.90% 0.90% 28,355 28,355 30,481 30,481
Agybaev A.E. 0.72% 0.72% 22,655 22,655 24,780 24,780
Khalyapin A.V. 0.01% 0.01% 138 138 501 501

100.00% 100.00% _ 3,148,271 _ 3,148,271 1,690,587 1,690,587

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, treasury shares amounted to 149,709 thousand tenge or
304,459 common shares and 152,436 thousand tenge or 302,137 common shares, respectively.

In 2010, the shareholders authorized for Issue 1,200,000 preferred shares with a cumulative
mandatory annual dividends of 240 tenge per share, 789,500 shares were placed during 2010 at
1,200 tenge each. There were no issues of preferred shares during 2017 and 2016,

In 2017, the shareholders authorized dividends based on the results of 2016 of
465,000 thousand tenge. In 2016, the shareholders authorized dividends based on the results of
2015 of 1,199,999 thousand tenge.

RESERVES
31 December 31 Dacembar
2017 2016
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment 3,329,063 4,015,099
Forelgn currency translation |372,8361) (386,839)
2,956,227 3,628,260
BORRCWINGS
31 Dacember 31 Dscamber
2017 2018
Borrowlings:
Long-term loans 8,165,380 10,519,930
Short-term bank loans and current portlon of long-term loans 9,165.787 11,918,210
17,331,167 22,438,140
Interest payable 225,376 285,210
Total borrowlngs 17,556,543 22,723,350

37



JSC RG BRANDS AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED)
(in thousands of Tenge, uniess otherwise stated)

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the borrowings are subject to repayment as follows:
31 Decamber 31 Decambar

2017 2016
On demand or within one year 9,391,163 12,203,420
In the second to fifth year inclusive 8,165,380 10,018,463
After 5 years - 501.467

17,556,543 22,723,350

Long-term loans

As at 31 December 2017, the outstanding principal amount of the loans under the loan
agreements with the European Bank of Reconstruction and Development (*"EBRD*) was
5,566,045 thousand tenge. The purpose of the loan is to replenish working capital, The loan
facllity Is repayable semlannually, tili December 2020. Interest rate Is 10.25% and Interest is
payable quarterly. The fixed assets of the Group with a carrying value of

2,500,033 thousand tenge and inventories with an assessed value of 3,950,000 thousand tenge
have been pledge as collateral for these loans.

As at 31 December 2017, the outstanding principal amount of the loan under loan agreement
with the International Finance Corporation of the non-revelving line of credit amount to
2,507,334 thousand tenge. The purpose of the loan is to refinance short-term debt and purchase
fixed assets. The principal amount Is repaid twice a year till 2022 and bears an interest rate of
9.2%. Interest Is payable on a semiannual basls. The fixed assets of the Group with a carrying
value of 4,529,692 thousand tenge have been pledged as collateral for this loan.

As at 31 December 2017, the outstanding principal amount of the ioan under loan agreement
with JSC ATF Bank was 333,333 thousand tenge. The purpose of the loan agreement is to
reflnance existing ioans of the Group. Interest rate Is 5.5%. The principal amount is to be repald
twice a year till 2019,

In 2017, the Group signed a credit line agreement with the Eurasian Bank of Development
("EBD") for the amount of 1,270,000 thousand Russlan rubles with interest rate of 10.1%. The
purpose of the loan Is to finance operatlonal activities. The principal amount is repald till

May 2020. In December 2017, the Group received the first tranche for the amount of

370,721 thousand Russlan rubles. As at 31 December 2017, the outstanding principal amount
was 370,721 thousand Russlan rubles. The fixed assets of the Group with a carrylng value of
2,266,220 thousand tenge have been pledged as collateral for this loan.

In 2017, the Group signed a loan agreement with the South Korean JSC Shinhan Bank
Kazakhstan. The Group recelved the first tranche for the amount of 700,000 thousand tenge with
the interest rate 9%. The purpose of the loan is to replenish working capital. The principal
amount to be repald in 3 years till October 2020 and interest is payable monthly. In 2017, under
the financial support program of the Ministry of Agricuiture of the Republic of Kazakhstan, the
subsidized Interest rate Is 6% resulting In a final interest rate for the Group of 3% in tenge per
annum. The fixed assets of the Group with a carrying value of 509,653 thousand tenge have been
pledged as collateral for this loan.

Short-term bank loans

In 2016, the Group signed a credit line agreement with the Development Bank of Kazakhstan
("DBK") in the amount of 1,980,000 thousand tenge for replenishment of working capltal. The
maturlty of the credit line is 2 years, maturity of tranches within this credit line Is from 1 month
till 12 months. Interest rate is 8.35%. Also the Group signed a credit line agreement in 2015 In
amount of 3,000,000 thousand tenge. Interest rate Is 6%. The total amount of the credit lines in
the bank Is 4,980,000 thousand tenge. The fixed assets of the Group with a carrying value of
832,132 thousand tenge have been pledged as collateral for this loan.
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21.

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the welghted average Interest rates of the Group’s bank loans
were 8.70% and 8.26% per annum, respectively.

Long-term loan agreements with ATF Bank, EBRD Bank and DBK Bank contain covenant clauses
covering performance indicators of the Group. As at 31 December 2017, the Group complied with
all of the required covenants {Note 27}.

As at 31 December, borrowings were denominated In the following currencles:

31 Dscember 31 Decambar

2017 2016
In Tenge 15,427,220 19,836,994
In Russlan Roubles 2,129,323 -
In US Dollars = 2,886,356

17,556,543 22,723,350

The table below detalls changes In the Group’s liabllities arising from flnancing activities.
Liablittles arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash
flows will be, classifled In the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from

financing activitles.

1 January Financing cash Other changes 31 Decembar
2017 _ flows (1} (i) 2017
Borrowlings, principal amount 22,438,140 (5,072,873) (34,100) 17,331,167

(n The cash flows from borrowings make up the net amount of proceeds from borrowings and repayments of borrowings
In the consolldated statement of cash flows.
()  Other changes Include foreign exchange loss.

In 2016 the Company issued notes in the amount of 56,700 thousand tenge with the maturity
date 1 July 2020. Interest rate was equal to 7.5%, the notes were denominated in Kazakhstani
tenge. As at 31 December 2017 the notes of the Company for the amount of 54,350 were placed
in subsidiary RG Brands Kazakhstan, accordingly, notes payable were eliminated on consolidation.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
31 Dacember 31 December

2017 2016
Raw materials 4,507,904 5,907,248
Packing materlals 1,091,865 1,650,955
Services 808,625 1,401,553
Property, plant and equipment 141,260 37,206
Goods 40.805 30,917
6.580,459 9,027,879
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As at 31 December, accounts payable were denominated in the following currencies:

In US Dollars

In Tenge

In Euro

In Russian Roubles
In Kyrgyz Soms

In Chinese yuans
In Uzbek Sums

22. TAXES PAYABLE

Value added tax
Other taxes

23. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS

31 December 31 Dacember
2017 2016
3,997,549 5,204,070
1,874,104 2,649,365

453,208 854,676
168,217 241,197
85,585 56,093
11,775 22,446

21 32
6,590,459 9,027.879

31 December 31 Decamber

2017 2016
565,792 898,696
84,832 104.715
650,524 1,003,411

Information reported to the chlef operating declsion maker for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance. Since 2017 the reporting of Information was changed,
It was presented in respect of ‘julces and beverages’, ‘packed tea, packed milk and food products’
and ‘wholesale activity’, but not In respect of sales under own brands and franchise. Accordingly,
comparative informatlon as at and for the year ended 31 December 2016 was restated.

No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the

Group.

a Juices and beverages - production, distribution and sale of beverages under the Group’s
brand name, including the juices “Gracio”, “*Da-Da”, “Da-Da Dacha”, "Nektar Solnechnyi”,
Juice-containing drink “DaDa Day”, water “A’SU” and “Piala Ice Tea”, "Nektar Solnechniyl
Gazirovannyi” and energetic drink “Yet!”; franchise - production, distribution and sale of
products with franchised trademarks, Including carbonated soft drinks "Pepsi”, “Mirinda”,

"Seven-Up” and “Lipton Ice Tea™;

a Packed tea, packed milk and food products: milk - production, distribution and sale of milk
under the Group’s brand name “Moye”; as well as production, distribution and sale of
welghing and packaged tea under the Group’s brand name “Piala”; production, distribution

and sale of production under the brand name “Grizil”.
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2017

Revenue

Profit before tax

Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Depreclation and amortization

Acqulsition of property, plant
and equipment

2016

Revenue

Profit before tax

Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Deprecfation and amortization

Acqulsition of property, plant
and equipment

Julces and
bevarages

33,892,764
1,688,588

(398,952)

1,289,636
1,375,288

1,338,874

29,316,081
557,484

(239,839)

317,645
1,223,906

467,900

Packed tea,
packed milk
and food
products

18,377,093
915,574

{216,317)

699,257
745,699

725,855

19,291,204
1,174,145

{533,836)

640,309
923,298

173,059

Wholesale
activity Consolidated
161,088 52,430,945
8,025 2,612,187
(1,896) {617,165)
6,129 1,995,022
6,536 2,127,523
6,364 2,071,193
133,517 48,740,802
66,706 1,798,335
- {773,675)
66,706 1,024,660
- 2,147,204
- 640,959

Revenue reported above represents revenue generated from third partles. There were no Inter-
segment sales during the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016. The accounting policles of
the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described In Note 3.
Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment. This s the measure reported to the
operating declsion makers for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment

performance.

As at 31 Decembar 2017

Segment assets

Total assets

Segment liabliitles

Deferred incorne tax llabllities
Total llabilitles

As at 31 Dacember 2018

Segment assets

Total assets

Segment llabliitles

Deferred Income tax llabllities
Total liabilitles

Julces and
bavarages

27,073,187
27,073,187
16,401,434

1,895,222
18,296,656

36,827,548
36,827,548
25,731,359

1,646,148
27,377,507

Packed tea,
packed milk
and food
preducts

14,423,761
14,423,761
8,738,179
1,009,716
9,747,895

11,244,885
11,244,885
7,594,216
1,143,934
8,738,150

Wholesala

activity Consolldated
154,111 41,651,059
154,111 41,651,059
93,364 25,232,977
10,788 2,915,726
104,152 28,148,703
1,555 48,073,988
1,555 48,073,988
- 33,325,575
- 2,790,082
- 36,115,657

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between
segments, all assets and liabilities are allocated to reportable segments. General corporate assets
and assets used jointly by reportable segments are allocated on the basis of the revenues earned
by Individual reportable segments. Liabllitles for which reportable segments are jointly liable are
allocated in proportion to segment assets,
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Revenue of the Group from sales to external customers by countrles is presented below:

Republic of Kazakhstan
Kyrgyz Republic
Russlan Federation
Tajlkistan

Luxembourg
Turkmenistan

Mongolla

24, EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Revenue from sales to external

customers

2017 2016
43,576,538 39,480,598
5,959,134 5,024,227
2,871,620 4,168,756
5,381 66,356
17,469 865
16 -
787 =
52,430,945 48,740,802

In accordance with the Law of the Republic of Kazakhstan “On Penslons In the Republic of
Kazakhstan” effective 1 January 1998, and replacing the previous unified system of pension
provisioning, employees have the right to receive guaranteed pension benefits provided they
have recorded working time from 1 January 1998 In proportlon to the historical data. They also
have the right to receive pension payments from savings pension funds generated from Individual
pension savings accounts provided by compulsory penslon contributions amounting to 10% of

their salary.

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group was not liable for any supplementary pensions,
post-retirement health care, insurance benefits or retirement Indemnities to its current or former

empioyees.

25. RELATED PARTIES

The Group's related parties Include the companles controiled by and associated with
Mazhibayev K.K. and Koshkinbayev Y.Z., belng the major shareholders of the Company (Note

18).

Transactions between the Company and Its subsidiarles have been eliminated on consolidation
and are not disclosed in this note. Detalis of transactions between the Group and its related

partles are disclosed below.
Transactions with related parties include:

° sales of carbonated soft drinks, natural julces and tea;

° sales/purchase of other inventories, property, plant and equipment and securities; and

. services on supporting marketing actlvities.

Trading transactions

Sales Purchases
Year ended Year ended Year ended Yaar ended
31 Decamber 31 December 31 December 31 Decembar
2017 2016 2017 2016
LLP RESMI Direct Investments 8,479 9,119 233,524 213,918
Entlties under common control 62 537 5.329 25,628
8541 9,658 238@53 239,546
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Other current assets, accounts payable and loans

The following balances were outstanding at the end of the reporting perlod as a result of the
above transactions:

Amounts owed by related parties

As at As at
31 Dacember 31 Dacamber
2017 2016
Entitles under common control:
- Due from broker
{Note 16) 57,593 53,292
- Cash In broker's account
{Note 17) 4,813 4,813
- Interest-free financial ald
(Note 18) - 4,745
- Trading and other operatlons
{Note 16) 217.319 194.076

279,725 256,926

Outstanding amounts due to/from related parties will be settied by cash transactions. No expense
has been recognized In the reporting period for bad debts in respect of amounts owed by related

parties.
Compensation of key management personnel

Key management compensation Is set at shareholders’ meetings according to human resource
policles, staff schedules, Individual labor agreements, shareholders’ resolutions and bonus accrual

orders.

Total compensation pald to the Group’s key management personnel during the years ended
31 December 2017 and 2016, amounted to 433,000 thousand tenge and
218,615 thousand tenge, respectively.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Capital management

Businesses in fast-moving consumer goods and food packaging Industries are subject to risks
related to rapld changes In markets and customer demands. It Is the Group’s policy to maintain a
strong financlal position as this provides the best balance of risk and reward for the shareholders.
The Board of Directors reviews the Group's caplital structure regularly taking into account
avallable cash balances and credit lines, trends In markets and Investment opportunities
generally, but especlally in the development of new products to enhance the existing portfollo,
and the development of new distribution channels and geographical markets. The Group’s overall
strategy remains unchanged from 2016.

Significant accounting policles

Information regarding significant accounting policies and accepted methods, including recognition
criteria, estimation basls, and basls for galn and losses recognition related to each class of
financial assets, flnancial liabllities, and securitles are disclosed in Note 3.

General risk management principles

The Group’s overall risk management concept is based on visibility of the key risks preventing the
Group from reaching its buslness objectives. This covers all risks areas; strategic, operational,
financlal and hazard risks. The Group’s risk management is a systematic and pro-active process
to analyze, review and manage all opportunities, threats and risks related to the Group's

objectlves.
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The principles documented in the Group’s Risk Policy and accepted by the Audlt Committee of the
Board of Directors require risk management and its elements to be Integrated into business
processes. One of the main principles Is that the business unit or function owner Is also the risk

owner.

Key risks are reported to business unit and Group level management to create assurance on
buslness risks and to enable prioritization of risk management Implementation in the Group. In
addition to general princlples there are specific risk management policies covering, for example,
treasury and customer finance risks.

Categories of flnancial instruments

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, financial instruments were as follows:

31 December 31 Decembar

2017 2018

Financlal assets
Other financlal assets 2,990,970 -
Recelvables and other current assets, excluding prepaid expenses and

other taxes recelvable (Notes 15, 16) 2,069,581 2,503,615
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 17) 5,236,437 15,552,359
Bank deposits 513,652 99,077
Financial llabliitles
Accounts payabie (Note 21) 6,590,459 9,027,879
Borrowings {Note 20) 17,556,543 22,723,350
Notes payable - 58,826
Other accounts payable and accrued [labllities (excluding advances

recelved) 420,989 357,441

Financlal risk management objectives

The key financlal targets for the Group are stable and profitable growth, generation of cash flows,
operational efficiency and a strong balance. The objectives for the Group’s treasury functlon are
twofold: to guarantee cost efficlent funding for the Group at all times and to identify, evaluate
and hedge financlai risks In close cooperatlon with the business groups. There Is a strong focus In
the Group on creating shareholder value. The Treasury function supports this aim by minimizing
the adverse effects caused by fluctuations In the financlal markets on the profitabllity of the
underlying businesses and by managing the balance sheet structure of the Group.

The treasury policy provides principles for overall financlal risk management and determines the
allocation of responsibliities for financlal risk management In the Group. Operating policies cover
specific areas such as foreign currency risk, interest rate risk as well as liquidity and credit risk,
The Group has detalled Standard Operating Procedures supplementing Treasury Policy in financial
risk management related Issues,

Market risks

The Group’s actlvities expose It primarily to the financlal risks of changes in forelgn currency
exchange rates and Interest rates.

Forelgn currency risk

The Group undertakes transactions denominated In foreign currencies, which lead to exposures to
exchange rate fluctuations. The Group reduced this exposure by decreasing forelgn currency
operations share, using of hedge and concluding of forward contracts.
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As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the carrying value of monetary assets and llabilitles of the
Group was as follows:

Asgets Liabllities
31 December 31 December 31 Dacember 31 December
2017 2016 2017 2016
In US Dollars 6,469,561 14,676,149 3,997,549 8,090,426
in Euro 805,861 1,250 453,208 854,676
In Russlan Roubles 243,178 639,130 2,297,540 241,197
In Kyrgyz Soms 232,612 199,637 85,585 56,093
In Uzbek Sums 16,389 41,203 21 32
In Korean Wons 3 3 - -
In Chinese yuans - - 11,775 22,446

Forelgn currency sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 20% increase and decrease In tenge
against the relevant foreign currencies. 20% Is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysls includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the
period end for a 20% change In foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysls Includes external
loans where the denomination of the loan Is in a currency other than the currency of the lender or
the borrower. A positive number below Indicates an increase in profit and other equity where the
tenge strengthens 20% agalnst the relevant currency. For a 20% weakening of the tenge against
the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite Impact on the proflt and other
equity, and the balances below would be negative.

Impact of US Dollars (I) Impact of Euro (i)
2017 2016 2017 2016
Profit/{loss) before tax (494,402) (1,317,145) (70,531) 170,685

[{}] This Is mainly attributable to the exposure on the Group’s cash In US Dollars bank accounts as at year ended
31 December 2017 and US Dollars denominated accounts payable as at year ended 31 December 2017.

{I)  This Is mainly attributable to the exposure the Group’s cash In Euro bank accounts as at year end.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to Interest rate risk elther through market value fluctuations of balance
sheet [tems (l.e. price risk) or through changes In interest Income or expenses (i.e. re-investment
risk). Interest rate risk mainly arises through interest-bearing liabllities and assets. Estimated
future changes in cash flows and balance sheet structure also expose the Group to interest rate
risk.

Treasury is responsible for monitoring and managing the Interest rate exposure of the Group. Due
to the current balance sheet structure of the Group, emphasis Is placed on managing the interest
rate risk in relation to borrowings. In 2017 all the loans of the Group have fixed interest rates.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure to Interest rates for non-
derivative instruments at the reporting date. A 100 basis point increase or decrease Is used when
reporting Interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change In Interest rates.

If Interest rates had been 100 basls polnts higher/lower and all other variables were held

constant, the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2017 would decrease/increase by
16,511 thousand tenge (In 2016: decrease/Increase by 19,172 thousand tenge).
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Credit risks
Customer Finance Credit Risk

The Group has malntained a financing policy almed at close cooperatlon with banks, financial
Institutions and other agencles to support distributors and selected customers In their financing of
working capital Investments, malnly for purchase of the Group’s products. The Group monitors
closely the extent of the borrowings In relation to the turnover of the key customers.

Credit risks related to customer financing are systematically analyzed, menitored and managed
by the Group’s Credit Manager, reporting to the Head of Financlal Control, Significant changes to
credit risks are approved by the Group’s Credit Committee along principles defined In the
Company’s credit policy and according to the credit approval process. The Credit Committee
consists of the Head of Financlal Control, CredIt Manager and representatives of Sales
department,

As at 31 December 2017, customer finance credit risk exposure of the Group totaled
1,792,015 thousand tenge (31 December 2016: 2,083,606 thousand tenge).

Financial credit risk

Flnancial Instruments contain an element of risk that Its counterpartlies would be unable to meet
their obiigations. This risk is measured and monitored by the treasury function. The Group
minimizes financlai credit risk by limiting its counterparties to a sufficient number of major banks
and flnanclal institutions. Rating of the Bank Julius Bar & Co., where other financial assets for
amount of 2,990,970 thousand tenge (Note 16) and cash and cash equivalents for amount of
3,359,988 thousand tenge (Note 17) are placed, was Aa2 as at December 5, 2016 In accordance
with rating agency Moody’s.

Direct credit risk represents the risk of loss resulting from counterparties’ default in relation to the
Items of the consolidated statement of financial position. Decision on investments to the fixed
income instrumants and short-term debt securities are based on strict creditworthiness criteria.
The outstanding investments are also constantly monitored by the treasury function. The Group
does not expect the counterparties to default glven thelr credit quailty. The carrying amount of
financial assets recognized in the consolidated financial statements, which is net of impalrment
losses, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk, without taking Into account
collateral or other credit enhancements held.

Liquidity risk

The Group guarantees sufficient liquidity at all times by efflclent cash management and by
investing in liquid interest bearing securities. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying
business, Treasury also aims at maintaining flexlbility in funding by keeping credit iines avallable.
The credit facllitles are Intended to be used for working capltal and capital investment funding
purposes.

The Group’s international creditworthiness facilitates the efficlent use of international capital and
loan markets. In 2017 the rating of the Group has been confirmed by the credit rating agency
Moody’s on the level of B2/stable.
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Table on liquidity risk

The following table presents contractual maturity of non-derivative financlal assets and Iiabilities
of the Group based on the undiscounted cash flows of financlal assets and liabllities {both interest
and principal cash flows) based on the earllest date on which {a) the Group expects to receive
payments; and (b} the Group can be required to pay.

Waelghted
average
Interast Within
2017 rata 1 year 1-5 years Ovar 5 yoars Total
Flnancial assats:
Trade accounts receivable - 1,680,479 - 1,680,479
Other flnancla! assets 1.05%-1.22% 2,996,970 - - 2,990,970
Other current assets,
excluding prepaid expenses
and other taxes receivable - 389,102 - - 389,102
Bank deposits 1.0% 513,652 ‘ - 513,652
Cash and cash equivalents - 5,236.437 - 5,236,437
10.810.640 - - 10,810,640
Financlal llabliitles:
Accounts payable - 6,590,459 - - 6,590,459
Loans 3.9%-12.5% 10,587,077 9,261,545 - 19,848,622
Other accounts payable and
accrued llabilltles - 420.989 - - 420,989
17,598,525 9,281,545 - _ 26,880,070
‘Welghted
avearage
intarest Within
2016 rate 1 yaar i-5 years Ovar 5 years Total
Filnancial assets:
Trade accounts recelvable - 2,082,152 - - 2,082,152
Other current assets,
excluding prepald expenses
and other taxes recelvable - 421,463 - - 421,463
Bank deposits 3% 99,077 - - 99,077
Cash and cash equivalents - 15,552 359 - 0 15,552,359
18,155,051 - - 18.155.051
FInanclal llabilitles:
Accounts payable - 9,027,879 - - 9,027,879
Loans 4.3%-19% 13,689,648 11,677,760 536,339 25,903,747
Notes payable 7.5% 2,126 56,700 - 58,826
Other accounts payable and
accrued labilitles - 357.441 - - 357,441

23,077.094 11,734,460 536,339 35,347,893

The Group has access to funds, as described below, amounting to 16,037,063 thousand tenge as
at 31 December 2017 (31 December 2016: 17,508,969 thousand tenge).
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Unsecured short-term borrowings with different maturities tiif 2018 2017
Amount used 1,533,333
Amount unused 3,536,957
—5:070.290
Secured short-term borrowings with different maturltias tiil 2018
Amount used 4,781,160
Amount unused -
781,150
Sacurad long-term borrowings with differant maturities till 2021
Amount used 11,111,278
Amount unused 12,500,106
23,611,384

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group also had authorized for Issue but not placed
410,500 preferred shares at 1,200 tenge each at a total amount of 492,600 thousand tenge.

Falr value of financial instruments carried at amortized cost

For assets and liabilitles maturing within twelve months, the carrying value approximates fair
value due to the relatively short-term maturity of these financial instruments.

The management beileves that the carrying value of financlal assets and liabllities carried at
amortlzed cost in the consolidated financial statements approximates thelr fair value.

31 Dacamber 2017 _21 Decamber 2018
Carrying value Falr valus Carrying value Falr value
Financial fablilies:
Loans 17,556,543 17,556,543 22,723,350 22,723,350

The falr values of the financial liabllities Included in the level 2 categories above have been
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on a discounted cash flow
analysls, with the most significant inputs belng the discount rate that reflects the credit risk of
counterpartles.

Hierarchy of fair value as at 31 December 2017

Level 1 Lavel 2 Level 3 Total
Financial llabllities
Loans - 17.556.543 - 17.556,543
Totals = 17,556,543 - _17.556.543
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Flnanclal assets
Other financial assets 2,990,970 - - __ 2990970
Totals 2,990,970 = - 2,990,970
Level 1 Level 2 Lavel 3 Total
Other assets
Investment property - - 607,493 607,493
Land and bulldings, machinery and equipment - - 20,557,649 20,557,649
Totails - - _21,165,142 21,165,142
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Hierarchy of falr value as at 31 December 2016

Lavel 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial llabliities
loans - 22,723,350 - 22,723,350
Totais - 22,723!350 - 22,723,350
Level 1 Leval 2 Laval 3 Total
Other assets
Investment property - - 507,889 507,889
Land and bulldings, machinery and equipment ~ - 21,185,273 21,185.273
Totals - - zalsssimz 21,683,162
Valuation technigue(s) and key Input(s)
Financlal liabiiities
Loans Level 2: Discounted cash flow at a discount rate that
reflects tha Issuer's current borrowing rate at the end of
the reporting perlod.
Financial assets
Other financlal assets Level 1: Quoted bid prices In an active market
Other assets
Investment property, land and bulldings Level 3: Cost approach and market for similar or
comparable assets, adjusted for differences with the
assets under valuation. Adjustment of the prices of
similar or comparable assets requires anslysls of such
factors as location, size, functional use and condition of
the asset.
Machinery and equipment Level 3: Income approach and cost approach. Income

approach Included determination of the value of
property, plant and equipment based on discounting of
cash flows. In construction of cash flow projections, the
appraiser consldered the general state of the world
econemy and the economy of the Republic of
Kazekhstan. The forecast figures for inflation and GDP
growth were adopted from GlobalInsight data. The
discounting rate of 14.06% was applied.

Cost approach Included determination of value of
property, plant and equipment on depreciated
replacement cost. Within the cost approach, the falr
value of machinery and equipment was calculated using
indices of Increase In value of fixed assets based on the
data of Agency on Statistics of the Republic of
Kazakhstan.

The calculation made by the appralser indicate the
results of valuation of the falr value of machinery and
equipment determined within the Income approach are
higher than the falr value determined within the cost
approach. Therefore, the fair value of the assets was
accepted according to the value determined within the
cost approach.
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27.

Hazard risk

The Group strives to ensure that all financial, reputation, and other losses of the Group and its
customers are minimized through preventive risk management measures or purchase of
insurance. Insurance is purchased for risks, which cannot be internally managed. The Group’s
Economic Security function’s objective Is to ensure that Group’s hazard risks, whether related to
physical assets (e.g. bulldings) or Intellectual assets {e.g. "RG Brands"” brand) or potential
Nabllities (e.g. product liability) are propety insured.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Operating anvironment

Emerging markets such as Kazakhstan are subject to different risks than more developed
markets, Including economic, political and soclal, and iegal and legislative risks. Laws and
regulations affecting businesses in Kazakhstan continue to change rapidly, tax and regulatory
frameworks are subject to varying interpretations. The future economic direction of Kazakhstan is
heavily influenced by the fiscal and monetary policies adopted by the government, together with
developments In the legal, regulatory, and political environment.

Because Kazakhstan produces and exports large volumes of oll and gas, Its economy is
particularly sensitive to the price of oll and gas on the world market, During 2014-2015 and then
In the first quarter of 2016, the oil price decreased significantly, which led to a significant
decrease In national export revenue. On 20 August 2015, the Government and the National Bank
of Kazakhstan announced a transition to a new monetary policy based on a free floating tenge
exchange rate, and cancelled the currency corridor. In 2015 and in the first quarter of 2016, the
tenge depreciated significantly agalnst major foreign currencles.

Management of the Group is monitoring developments In the current environment and taking
measures [t consldered necessary In order to support the sustalnability and development of the
Group’s business in the foreseeable future. However, the impact of further economic
developments on future operations and the financlal position of the Group is at this stage difficult
to determine.

Tax and reguiatory snvironment

The government of the Republic of Kazakhstan continues to reform the business and commercial
infrastructure In Its transition to a market economy. As a result, laws and regulations affecting
businesses continue to change rapidiy. These changes are characterized by poor drafting,
different Interpretations and arbitrary appilication by the authorities.

The tax period remalns open for audit by tax authorities within five calendar years; however, in
certain condltions, the tax perliod may be extended. Consequently, the Group may be subject to
additional tax liablilties, which may arlse as a result of tax audits. The Group belleves it has
provided adequately for all tax liabllities based on Its understanding of the tax legislation.
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Compilance with loan covenants

Some of the Group’s loan agreements are subject to covenant clauses, whereby the Group Is
required to meet certain key performance indicators. The Group complied with all covenants of
loan agreements with lenders as at 31 December 2017.

Lagal issues

The Group has been and continues to be the subject of legal proceedings and adjudications from
time to time, none of which have had, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse impact
on the Group. Management believes that the resolution of al! such matters will not have a

material Impact on the Group’s consolidated statement of financlal position or conselidated
operating results.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for Issue by the Group’s
management on 13 March 2018,
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